# Comparing species interaction networks along environmental gradients

Loïc Pellissier<sup>1,2,\*,†</sup>, Camille Albouy<sup>1,2,3,†</sup>, Jordi Bascompte<sup>4</sup>, Nina Farwig<sup>5</sup>, Catherine Graham<sup>2</sup>, Michel Loreau<sup>6</sup>, Maria Alejandra Maglianesi<sup>7,8</sup>, Carlos J. Melián<sup>9</sup>, Camille Pitteloud<sup>1,2</sup>, Tomas Roslin<sup>10</sup>, Rudolf Rohr<sup>11</sup>, Serguei Saavedra<sup>12</sup>, Wilfried Thuiller<sup>13</sup>, Guy Woodward<sup>14</sup>, Niklaus E. Zimmermann<sup>1,2</sup> and Dominique Gravel<sup>15</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Landscape Ecology, Institute of Terrestrial Ecosystems, ETH Zürich, Zürich, Switzerland

<sup>2</sup> Swiss Federal Research Institute WSL, 8903 Birmensdorf, Switzerland

<sup>3</sup> IFREMER, unité Ecologie et Modèles pour l'Halieutique, rue de l'Ile d'Yeu, BP21105, 44311 Nantes cedex 3, France

<sup>4</sup>Department of Evolutionary Biology and Environmental Studies, University of Zürich, 8057 Zürich, Switzerland

<sup>5</sup> Conservation Ecology, Faculty of Biology, Philipps-Universität Marburg, Karl-von-Frisch-Str.8, D-35032 Marburg, Germany

<sup>6</sup>Centre for Biodiversity Theory and Modelling, Theoretical and Experimental Ecology Station, CNRS and Paul Sabatier University, 09200 Moulis, France

<sup>7</sup> Vicerrectoría de Investigación, Universidad Estatal a Distancia, 2050 San José, Costa Rica

<sup>8</sup> Biodiversity and Climate Research Centre (BiK-F) and Senckenberg Gesellschaft für Naturforschung, 60325 Frankfurt am Main, Germany <sup>9</sup> Department of Fish Ecology and Evolution, Eawag: Swiss Federal Institute of Aquatic Science and Technology, 6047 Kastanienbaum,

Switzerland

<sup>10</sup>Department of Ecology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden

<sup>11</sup>Department of Biology – Ecology and Evolution, University of Fribourg, Fribourg, Switzerland

<sup>12</sup>Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, Massashusets Institute of Technology, 77 Massachusetts Avenue, Cambridge, 02139 MA U.S.A.

<sup>13</sup>University of Grenoble Alpes, CNRS, LECA (Laboratoire d'Écologie Alpine), F-38000 Grenoble, France

<sup>14</sup>Department of Life Sciences, Imperial College London, Silwood Park Campus, Berkshire, SL5 7PY, U.K.

<sup>15</sup>Département de Biologie, Faculté des Sciences, Canada Research Chair in Integrative Ecology, Université de Sherbrooke, 2500, boulevard de

l'Université, Sherbrooke, J1K 2R1 Québec, Canada

### ABSTRACT

Knowledge of species composition and their interactions, in the form of interaction networks, is required to understand processes shaping their distribution over time and space. As such, comparing ecological networks along environmental gradients represents a promising new research avenue to understand the organization of life. Variation in the position and intensity of links within networks along environmental gradients may be driven by turnover in species composition, by variation in species abundances and by abiotic influences on species interactions. While investigating changes in species composition has a long tradition, so far only a limited number of studies have examined changes in species interactions between networks, often with differing approaches. Here, we review studies investigating variation in network structures along environmental gradients, highlighting how methodological decisions about standardization can influence their conclusions. Due to their complexity, variation among ecological networks is frequently studied using properties that summarize the distribution or topology of interactions such as number of links, connectance, or modularity. These properties can either be compared directly or using a procedure of standardization. While measures of network structure can be directly related to changes along environmental gradients, standardization is frequently used to facilitate interpretation of variation in network properties by controlling for some co-variables, or via null models. Null models allow comparing the deviation of empirical networks from random expectations and are expected to provide a more mechanistic understanding of the factors shaping ecological networks when they are coupled with functional traits. As an illustration, we compare approaches to quantify the role of trait matching in driving the structure of

<sup>\*</sup> Address for correspondence (Tel: +41 44 632 32 03; E-mail: loic.pellissier@usys.ethz.ch).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> Authors contributed equally to the work.

plant-hummingbird mutualistic networks, i.e. a direct comparison, standardized by null models and hypothesis-based metaweb. Overall, our analysis warns against a comparison of studies that rely on distinct forms of standardization, as they are likely to highlight different signals. Fostering a better understanding of the analytical tools available and the signal they detect will help produce deeper insights into how and why ecological networks vary along environmental gradients.

Key words: network, metaweb, motif, rarefaction analysis, null model, environmental gradient, network comparison, network properties.

### CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	786
II.	Selecting the network properties to compare	788
	(1) <i>α</i> -properties	788
	$(2)$ $\beta$ -properties	788
	(3) Motif profiles	788
III.	Comparing ecological networks along environmental gradients	789
	(1) Comparing raw network properties	789
	(2) Residual variation of network properties	789
	(3) Rarefaction analysis	789
	(4) Null models	790
	(5) Comparison to a hypothesis-based metaweb	793
	(6) Network alignment	793
	(7) Statistical model coupling co-occurrence with interactions	794
IV.	What is the best approach for comparing ecological networks?	794
	(1) The plant–hummingbird case study	795
	(2) Comparison of plant-hummingbird network properties	795
	(3) Comparison of trait matching with two null models	795
	(4) The use of hypothesis-based metaweb	795
	(5) Conclusions from the plant-hummingbird networks	796
V.	Conclusions	796
VI.	Acknowledgements	796
VII.	References	797

### I. INTRODUCTION

Ecological networks account for both species distributions and their interactions (Reiss et al., 2009; Schleuning Fründ, & García, 2015) and provide an integrated representation of communities. They are, however, often considered as fixed entities isolated from one another, and are usually described at a single local site or region. Isolated networks are viewed as the result of deterministic ecological constraints (Clauset, Moore & Newman, 2008), such as forbidden links (Jordano, Bascompte & Olesen, 2003), functional composition (Gravel et al., 2016), abundance (Vázquez & Aizen, 2004), morphology (Stang, Klinkhamer & van der Meijden, 2007; Rohr et al., 2010) and phylogeny (Cattin et al., 2004; Vázquez & Aizen, 2004; Brose, Williams & Martinez, 2006; Petchey et al., 2008; Rohr et al., 2010; Rohr & Bascompte, 2014). Variation of ecological networks in space or time is a novel and exciting approach to the analysis of community turnover. As shown in recent studies (Tylianakis et al., 2008; Kissling et al., 2012; Kissling & Schleuning, 2015; Schleuning et al., 2015; Tylianakis & Morris, 2017), comparing ecological networks along environmental gradients can generate new insights into the relative importance of environmental filtering and coexistence mechanisms behind community assembly. Beyond analysing general properties that are shared among ecological networks (Bascompte *et al.*, 2003), investigations of how networks vary along environmental gradients have the potential to provide insight into how abiotic conditions shape variation in species interactions.

Community ecology has predominantly focused on the structure of species assemblages within a single trophic level, such as plants (Weiher, Clarke & Keddy, 1998; Götzenberger *et al.*, 2012) or a guild such as bird communities (Diamond & Cody, 1975; Terborgh *et al.*, 1990). The description of assemblages not only by their co-occurrence but also by their interaction has nonetheless a long tradition, as pioneered by the work of Lindeman (1942), Odum (1956) and Margalef (1963). The idea that species are organized into interaction networks was proposed first for terrestrial ecosystems (e.g. plant–herbivore interactions; Elton, 1924) but was later developed mainly in marine ecosystems, e.g. intertidal marine organisms (Paine, 1966), mangroves (Odum & Heald, 1975) and coral reefs (Polovina, 1984). The development of this concept was slower for terrestrial systems and was only

recently established as a common approach for studying not just food webs, but also mutualistic (Pimm, 1991; Memmott, 1999; Dunne, Williams & Martinez, 2002; Olesen & Jordano, 2002; Bascompte et al., 2003; ) and host-parasite networks (Lafferty et al., 2008). Empirical investigation of ecological networks requires documenting species presences, along with their interactions and environmental variables. Detection of these can be achieved through direct observation (e.g. records of flower visitors; Fabian et al., 2013), use of video-camera systems (Maglianesi et al., 2014; Weinstein, 2015), or by indirect methods such as removal experiments (Choler, Michalet & Callaway, 2001), guantification of gut contents (e.g. Barnes et al., 2008), isotope analyses (e.g. Vander Zanden et al., 1999) or molecular methods (e.g. García-Robledo et al., 2013). To provide the most informative ecological signal, quantification of interactions should ideally go beyond the simple observation of the presence or absence of links, and instead estimate the strength of the interactions through time (e.g. interaction frequency between plants for hummingbirds). The documentation of ecological interactions has, however, been very resource-demanding, and only recently have approaches such as molecular barcoding (Jurado-Rivera et al., 2009; González-Varo, Arroyo & Jordano, 2014), automated data collection using cameras or other technologies (Weinstein, 2015), as well as data-sharing (Martín González et al., 2015; Poisot et al., 2016) facilitated the study of ecological networks across sites and along environmental gradients (Wirta et al., 2015).

Recent studies comparing the structure of ecological networks along environmental gradients have suggested that ecological and evolutionary constraints may shape networks differently in contrasting environments (Schleuning et al., 2012; Hudson et al., 2013; Layer, Hildrew & Woodward, 2013; Morris et al., 2014; O'Gorman et al., 2014; Martín González et al., 2015; Osorio et al., 2015). These studies highlighted how specific structural properties such as modularity, nestedness, or trophic specialization may vary under the shifting influences of processes such as environmental filtering, competition or facilitation (Layer et al., 2010; Schleuning et al., 2012; Martín González et al., 2015; Cirtwill & Stouffer, 2016). For example, Martín González et al. (2015) showed that specialization in plant-hummingbird interaction networks is positively correlated with warmer temperatures and greater historical temperature stability. This can be interpreted as stronger competition for floral resources in warmer and more stable conditions, where specialization favours species co-existence.

Variation of ecological networks along environmental gradients may be driven by multiple factors, since the turnover of species and of interactions may be caused by several abiotic drivers (Poisot *et al.*, 2012). Our knowledge of how and why ecological networks vary along environmental gradients is still embryonic, despite increased interest in this field (Polis, Anderson & Holt, 1997; Warren, 1989; Dalsgaard *et al.*, 2011; Schleuning *et al.*, 2011). Part of this limitation is caused by the dearth of extensive interaction data sets. In addition, new methods are required to quantify recent

networks that contain tens to hundreds of replicated networks (e.g. Krasnov *et al.*, 2004) or originate from reconstructed networks based on imposed rules (e.g. Albouy *et al.*, 2014). Finally, moving from understanding of 'how networks vary' to 'why networks vary' requires the development of new methodological approaches providing mechanistic insights rather than simple pattern detection (Beaumont, 2010; Gravel *et al.*, 2013, 2016).

Species turnover represents the most obvious source of variation of ecological networks along environmental gradients, as interactions between species are primarily conditioned by their co-occurrence (Gravel et al., 2016). There are many drivers of species co-occurrence, such as environmental filtering, ecological interactions, dispersal limitations and historical contingencies (Peres-Neto, 2004; Pottier et al., 2013). Abiotic conditions may also promote the turnover of interactions for given co-occurrences (Trøjelsgaard et al., 2015). Variation in species abundance among sites may influence the frequency and detectability of interactions (Pellissier et al., 2013; Bartomeus et al., 2016) as more-abundant species are more likely to interact (Petchey, Brose & Rall, 2010; Canard et al., 2014). Dominant morphologies or functional traits, for instance body size (Shin & Cury, 2001), both involved in trait-matching constraints (Gravel et al., 2013; Albouy et al., 2014; Bartomeus et al., 2016; Hattab et al., 2016), may also vary predictably with the environment (Shipley, Vile & Garnier, 2006). As an example, body size is larger in colder than in warmer conditions (Clarke & Warwick, 1999; O'Gorman et al., 2016). Further complicating the picture, co-occurrence is required for an interaction to occur, but the interactions themselves may also affect co-occurrence (Cazelles et al., 2016). For example, competitive interactions can potentially exclude a species from locations that would have otherwise favourable abiotic conditions (le le Roux et al., 2012), or a predator could drive a prey toward an enemy-free location (Wisz *et al.*, 2013). When combined, these lines of evidence suggest that strong environmental clines should be associated with significant variation in the structure of ecological networks.

Comparing communities along environmental gradients has traditionally been used to gain a better understanding of how shifting ecological conditions shape the distinct structure of species assemblages, for instance species richness (e.g. Whittaker, Willis & Field, 2001; Macpherson, 2002), functional structure (Cornwell & Ackerly, 2009; Pellissier et al., 2010; de Bello et al., 2013), phylogenetic diversity (Graham et al., 2009; Pellissier et al., 2012) or multiple dimensions simultaneously (; Weinstein et al., 2014; Dainese, Lepš & de Bello, 2015). Extending the species composition research agenda to ecological networks raises two new questions: what are the network properties to compare, and how to compare them? The first step in such analyses is to extract summary properties from different networks, such as nestedness (Dalsgaard et al., 2013) or modularity (e.g. Morris et al., 2014), which can be compared directly (Pouilly, Barrera & Rosales, 2006; Fabian et al., 2013), or standardized to control for potential covariates (Bascompte et al., 2003; Aizen et al., 2008; Schleuning et al., 2011). Variation in network properties among sites is then interpreted in the light of distinct ecological processes (e.g. matching rules) reflecting different environmental pressures for the coexistence of species in communities (Pimm, 1991; Montoya, Pimm, & Sole, 2006). Blüthgen et al. (2008) argued that raw metrics, uncontrolled for neutrality or sampling effects, may be substantially flawed resulting in incorrect interpretation of variation across networks. Instead, properties describing network structure should be standardized but the most appropriate method to do so still requires discussion. Here, we review studies which have compared ecological networks along environmental gradients and present the most commonly applied methods with an emphasis on the standardization these methods employ. Using variation in plant-hummingbird mutualistic networks along an elevation gradient as a case study, we compare different methods and discuss their advantages and limitations, along with their ecological interpretation. Our review and case study show that the standardization employed can greatly influence the ecological interpretations of network variation along environmental gradients. We highlight the critical importance of methodological decisions, which should be aligned with the ecological hypotheses that are being tested.

## II. SELECTING THE NETWORK PROPERTIES TO COMPARE

### (1) $\alpha$ -properties

Studies of species diversity typically refer to the mean species diversity of a given site at a local scale as alpha diversity ( $\alpha$ -diversity; Whittaker, 1972). By analogy, we here refer to  $\alpha$ -properties as the characteristics of a local network. Some  $\alpha$ -properties are strongly linked to the distribution of interactions such as species specialization or vulnerability (Schleuning et al., 2011), while others are related to the topology of the network, including for example connectance (May, 1972; Jordano, 1987; Beckerman, Petchey & Warren, 2006; Santamaria & Rodriguez-Girones, 2007), centrality (Gonzalez et al., 2010), nestedness (Bascompte et al., 2003; Santamaria & Rodriguez-Girones, 2007), or modularity (Dalsgaard et al., 2013). These properties can be directly extracted from the distribution and structure of nodes and links within each local ecological network. Moreover, the structure of ecological networks can be combined with complementary information, for example with phylogenies (Krasnov et al., 2012; Pellissier et al., 2013) or with functional traits (Maglianesi et al., 2014) to compute more complex properties of networks. For example, Rezende et al. (2007) or Rohr & Bascompte (2014) combined phylogenies with ecological networks and showed a pervasive phylogenetic signal in the structure of species interactions. One may also use traits to compute more-specific metrics, such as ecological matching, when traits of one species should correspond to a trait syndrome of another to allow the

interaction (Maglianesi *et al.*, 2014; Weinstein & Graham, 2017). One major caveat of the computation of multiple network metrics is that they may show a strong degree of collinearity. Hence, the variation of one metric cannot be interpreted without either considering the variation of its correlate (Poisot & Gravel, 2014), building composite variables using multivariate approaches, or applying a form of standardization.

### (2) $\beta$ -properties

As a complement to the  $\alpha$ -properties of ecological networks,  $\beta$ -properties quantify differences between pairs of networks or among multiple networks if a multiple-site dissimilarity measure is required to capture better the heterogeneity of sampled habitats and networks (Diserud & Odegaard, 2007; Melián et al., 2015). Poisot et al. (2012) proposed quantification of the interactions in common between any pair of localities expressed over the total number of interactions. The total network dissimilarity is then divided into two components, one attributable to the turnover in species composition and the other to the turnover in interactions (Poisot et al., 2012). The dissimilarity among ecological networks depends on both the change in the occurrence and the intensity of the interactions (Canard et al., 2014). Using this approach, Trøjelsgaard et al. (2015) found that distant networks are more dissimilar to one another than closer ones, essentially because of spatial turnover in composition and abundances. As with  $\alpha$ -properties, ecological networks can be coupled with species characteristics to compute functional  $\beta$ -properties, for example to quantify whether changes in ecological networks are associated with specific functional or phylogenetic modules.  $\beta$ -properties can be related to environmental differences among sites using a statistical model (e.g. Mantel test). While intuitive and intimately related to the long tradition of  $\beta$ -diversity analysis (Legendre, Borcard & Peres-Neto, 2005), this approach is only appropriate to compare ecological networks that share many species, whereas it might prove of limited use along environmental clines with significant species turnover. Moreover, the problem of co-varying factors is also relevant when relating  $\beta$ -properties to environmental differences among sites. Depending on the question, applying standardization to avoid biased interpretations can be necessary.

### (3) Motif profiles

Ecological networks can be decomposed into smaller modules of interactions, such as omnivory, apparent competition, exploitative competition, and intra-guild predation (Leibold, 1995; Chase, 2003). Whenever these modules are overrepresented in a network, they are generally referred to as 'motifs' (Milo *et al.*, 2002). Motifs are hypothesized to be the building blocks of larger network structures (Bascompte & Melián, 2005; Stouffer *et al.*, 2007). Ecological networks can thus be described by the combination of all possible motifs of a given number of nodes found in a network (e.g.

there are 13 distinct possible motifs of three nodes). The frequency distribution of the different motifs will then reflect the signature of the network topology. This approach can point out conserved regions of the network, which can be key to their functioning under distinct environmental conditions (Baker et al., 2015). Motif profiles have been related to certain aspects of community dynamics, such as coexistence and stability (Stouffer & Bascompte, 2011), and have been used to compare networks over space and time. For example, Baker et al. (2015) used this approach to investigate the spatial and temporal turnover of host-parasitoid interaction networks in southern Finland. They found that even though there is considerable turnover in species composition, the motif profiles are strongly conserved over spatial and temporal scales, suggesting a consistent network structure. While promising, the rationale of decomposing ecological networks in modules requires further evaluation with empirical data.

## III. COMPARING ECOLOGICAL NETWORKS ALONG ENVIRONMENTAL GRADIENTS

#### (1) Comparing raw network properties

Ecological networks can be summarized by structural  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -properties, which include nestedness (Bascompte *et al.*, 2003), modularity (Olesen et al., 2007), and turnover of interactions (Poisot et al., 2012). These can be directly related to abiotic variables using various statistical approaches. For instance, Morris et al. (2014) evaluated whether connectance, modularity and other properties of antagonistic networks showed a latitudinal trend. After controlling for sampling effects (species diversity and size of the interaction matrix), they found no consistent latitudinal patterns in 216 quantitative networks of insect parasitoids. Because many network properties are intertwined with each other (Winemiller, 1989; Layer et al., 2010), it is essential to control for a possible effect of co-variation, such as with species richness or relative abundance within a standardization procedure. Blüthgen et al. (2008) warned that the comparison of raw metrics may be substantially flawed, because of collinearity between network properties or due to underlying variation in species abundance or species richness (see Morris et al., 2014). The same limitation applies to high-dimensional properties of network structures involving complementary sources of information such as traits and phylogenies (Rohr & Bascompte, 2014). For example, a direct comparison of the phylogenetic signal (e.g. through a correlation between phylogenetic distances and interactions) among networks only evaluates whether interactions are associated with the phylogenetic distance among species (Aizen et al., 2016). Nevertheless, this direct comparison does not evaluate whether the same lineages interact with each other, nor identify the underlying ecological mechanism. A direct comparison of metrics is therefore expected to provide primarily a description of how different aspects of network structures vary along environmental gradients, but is less

likely able to answer why they do so. Moreover, due to collinearity among metrics describing ecological networks, a direct comparison generally fails to disentangle the independent variation of a given property.

#### (2) Residual variation of network properties

The simplest approach to control for the co-variation of network properties is to use a linear regression to remove it and focus on the residuals thereof (e.g. Devoto, Medan & Montaldo, 2005; Tylianakis, Tscharntke & Lewis, 2007; Dalsgaard et al., 2013; Trøjelsgaard et al., 2013; Morris et al., 2014). For example, connectance is a common metric for describing network complexity, but it is strongly correlated with species richness (Winemiller, 1990; Havens, 1992; Martinez, 1992), which constrains the potential arrangements of links (Poisot & Gravel, 2014). Ouantifying the residual variation in connectance among sites that is independent of species richness provides a better measure of the degree of species association in an ecological network (Dunne et al., 2002; Olesen & Jordano, 2002). In the situation of multiple collinear variables, structural equation models or path analyses are useful tools for disentangling the relative correlations of collinear variables along environmental gradients (Thébault & Fontaine, 2010). The study of residual variation provides the means to measure the variation of the property of ecological networks along environmental gradients independently of other co-variables. Although it still does not necessarily identify the underlying mechanisms, it allows us to quantify more precisely the variation of interest among ecological networks.

#### (3) Rarefaction analysis

Rarefaction techniques provide a way to compare ecological networks that differ in either sampling effort or community complexity across sites (Olesen et al., 2011; Albrecht et al., 2014; Morris et al., 2014). In community ecology, rarefaction curves allow comparison between the observed or expected species richness in a relatively poorly sampled community with the expected species richness of a more extensively sampled community for an equivalent sampling effort, thereby removing confounding sampling effort effects (Simberloff, 1978; Gotelli & Colwell, 2001). In the context of ecological networks, rarefaction analyses allow the comparison of networks that differ in sampling effort, complexity, or species richness. Species and their associated interactions can be randomly removed from the most species-rich network to match the richness level of the species-poor network to which it is being compared. This operation can be repeated multiple times to obtain a statistical distribution of rarefied network properties (Albrecht *et al.*, 2014). The value of the property for the species-poor network can be compared to the distribution of the rarefied one. In Fig. 1, we illustrate this approach using 10 parasitic food webs in agricultural landscapes (Fabian et al., 2013). Fig. 1 indicates that there is a positive correlation between difference in connectance and difference in the configuration



**Fig. 1.** Comparison of connectance of 10 hymenopteran food webs from Fabian *et al.* (2013) using the rarefaction method that removes species and links randomly. (A) Relation between ecological distance and difference in connectance between sites. The ecological distance between sites was expressed as the Euclidean distance between the percentage cover by six landscape elements on the different sites: (*i*) agricultural fields; (*ii*) extensive meadows, gardens, orchards and hedges; (*iii*) forest; (*iv*) wildflower strips; (*v*) water bodies and (*vt*) urban areas (roads and houses). Red dots on the graph identify the only three pairs of networks that showed a significant difference in connectance when values were compared after rarefaction. The red line is a local polynomial regression fitted with a confidence interval of 95% (shaded blue). (B) The observed connectance of the smallest network (red dot; 20 species) compared with the distribution of rarefied connectance with 10 iterations from a richer species network (38 species). In this example, the two measures of connectance are not different.

of the agricultural landscape among sites, which is, however, confounded by underlying variation in species richness. When accounting for differences in species richness using a rarefaction approach, only three pairs of sites at similar richness level showed significant differences in connectance. The overall gradient in connectance needs to be robust to differences in species richness before conclusions can be drawn about apparent underlying differences in connectance per site.

#### (4) Null models

Null models are useful for evaluating whether a specific structural property may be the result of chance alone in the absence of any particular ecological constraint (Gotelli & Graves, 1996; Gotelli, 2001). This approach has been used widely in spatial community ecology to evaluate whether community structure, such as the distribution of abundance or functional dispersion, differs from random sampling of the regional species pool (Götzenberger et al., 2012). Null models are also applied to the analysis of ecological networks (Bascompte et al., 2003; Ollerton et al., 2007) and along environmental gradients (see Table 1). Here, the value of the network property of interest is contrasted to expected values from the null models, where the links within each network are randomized. The randomization might be constrained, e.g. by fixing the species' relative abundances. Blüthgen et al. (2008) showed that the deviation of network properties from null expectations varies according to the relative abundance of the species. If partners associate randomly, species are more likely to interact with common than with rare partners. Since species abundances and frequencies are known to co-vary with environmental gradients (Lomolino, 2001), a null model accounting for the abundance or frequency of species provides a more relevant baseline to highlight changes in species interactions along the gradient (Schleuning *et al.*, 2012; Sebastián-González *et al.*, 2015).

Null models have also been used to evaluate the role of functional traits in structuring ecological networks. Trait matching between mutualistic or antagonistic partners is compared to the values expected when the association of species with their traits is randomized. Null models have been used for the evaluation, for example, of whether the functional matching of interactions is stricter than expected under random associations (Fig. 2B). The standard effect size (SES) - the difference of the observation relative to the null distribution - is related to environmental gradients using a statistical model (Schleuning et al., 2012). As emphasized by de Bello et al. (2013), null models are not 'magic wands', and a linear dependence between the SES and the original raw metric is frequently observed. Similarly, it is not known whether standardized measures generated by null models can be properly compared across networks with different dimensions. The architecture of a null model requires careful evaluation (e.g. using simulated data) to understand clearly whether the confounding effects are attenuated as anticipated.

Ň	of	
bert	st	
rop	ш	
k p	ij.	
/or	ffe	
etv	ng	
y n	.rg.	
lar.	îne	
лп	n	
sur	is a	
he	lts	
ht	lie	
wit	grac	
ıer	alg	
getl	ent	
tog	nm	
nts,	iro	
dieı	env	
grae	ŝ	
al	aloi	
ent	ks	
Ш	VOI	
iroı	let	
ShV	alı	
പ്പ	gic.	n.
alor	olc	ISO
g a	ec Se	par
are	ing	uc
du	paı	e C
CO	ОШ	th
ere	U.	lize
Ň	sed	larc
orks	n u	and
two	acl	sta
ne	prc	s to
cal	ap	del
1go	ion	nno
col	zat	П
ic e	rdi	r n
iisti	nda	IS O
got	staı	lys
nta	he	ana
r a	đt	Ial
c o	an	idu
isti	ent	res
ual	adie	гa
nut	50	the
с г	ntal	e ei
her	ner	su :
S W	JULC	ere
ion	VII	Чþ
cati	en	iste
hli	the	es li
$\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{U}}$	'n,	Jdie
Ξ.	lert	i sti
ble	ısic	25
Та	COI	the

une 20 stuates instea nere	use eturer a resignat analysis	OF HUIL FROMERS TO STANDAR UNCE UN	te comparison.		
Network type	Property	Ecological gradient	Method	Reference	Title
Antagonistic	Species richness, trophic composition	Elevation	Comparing raw properties	Pouilly et al. (2006)	Changes of taxonomic and trophic structure of fish assemblages along an environmental gradient in the Upper Beni watershed (Bolivia)
Mutualistic	Specialization	Latitude, past and contemporary climate, plant diversity	Null model	Schleuning et al. (2012)	Specialization of mutualistic interaction networks towards tropical latitudes
Antagonistic	Rates of parasitism, linkage density, generality, vulnerability, evenness, connectance, compartment diversity	Habitat modification	Adding a statistical cofactor	Tylianakis <i>et al.</i> (2007)	Habitat modification alters the structure of tropical host–parasitoid food webs
Mutualistic	Specialization, connectance, number of interactions	Precipitation, elevation	Adding a statistical cofactor	Devoto et al. (2005)	Patterns of interaction between plants and pollinators along an environmental gradient
Mutualistic	Connectance, nestedness, degree of distribution, modularity	Elevation	Null model	Ramos-Jiliberto <i>et al.</i> (2010)	Topological change of Andean plant-pollinator networks along an altitudinal gradient
Mutualistic	Modularity and nestedness	Historical and contemporary climate change	Comparing raw properties	Dalsgaard <i>et al.</i> (2013)	Historical climate change influences modularity and nestedness of pollination networks
Mutualistic	Modularity and nestedness	Latitude, elevation, temperature, precipitation	Null model	Trøjelsgaard et al. (2013)	Macroecology of pollination networks
Mutualistic	Specialization	Elevation, historical climate change (velocity), contemporary climate change (precipitation, temperature), species richness and seasonality	Null model	Dalsgaard <i>et al.</i> (2011)	Specialization in plant-hummingbird networks is associated with species richness, contemporary precipitation and quaternary climate-change velocity
Mutualistic	Modularity and nestedness	Latitude, climate, topography, human impact	Null model	Sebastián- <i>González et al.</i> (2015)	Macroecological trends in nestedness and modularity of seed-dispersal networks: human impact matters
Antagonistic	Trophic level and contribution of benthic carbon to diet	Inshore – offshore	Comparing raw properties	Kopp <i>et al.</i> (2015)	Reorganization of a marine trophic network along an inshore–offshore gradient due to stronger pelagic–benthic coupling in coastal areas
Antagonistic & mutualistic	Modularity and nestedness	Temperature, precipitation	Adding a statistical cofactor	Welti & Joern (2015)	Structure of trophic and mutualistic networks across broad environmental gradients
Antagonistic	Trophic levels, connectance, generality, vulnerability	Estuarine-costal	Niche model	Vinagre & Costa (2014)	Estuarine – coastal gradient in food-web network structure and properties
Antagonistic	Linkage density, connectance, generality, vulnerability, modularity, specialization	Latitude	Comparing raw properties	Morris et al. (2014)	Antagonistic interaction networks are structured independently of latitude and host guild
Antagonistic	Generality, vulnerability, connectance, interaction evenness	Elevation	Adding a statistical cofactor	Maunsell <i>et al.</i> (2015)	Changes in host–parasitoid food web structure with elevation

Biological Reviews 93 (2018) 785-800 © 2017 Cambridge Philosophical Society

Network type	Property	Ecological gradient	Method	Reference	Title
Mutualistic	Number of compartments, modularity, number of modules, nestedness, connectance, pollinator:plant ratio, robustness	Invasion status	Rarefaction analysis	Albrecht et al. (2014)	Consequences of plant invasions on compartmentalization and species' roles in plant–pollinator networks
Antagonistic	Species composition and species interaction	Temperature, isothermality, precipitation, diurnal range	Beta-diversity	Poisot et al. (2016)	Hosts, parasites, and their interactions respond to different climatic variables
Antagonistic	Herbivore and predator biomass, and herbivore composition	Productivity	Comparing raw properties	Chase (2003)	Strong and weak trophic cascades along a productivity gradient
Antagonistic	Phenotypic and ecological specialization	Elevation	Comparing raw properties	Maglianesi et al. (2014)	The role of morphological traits (i.e. phenotypic specialization) for ecological specialization in plant–hummingbird networks in three types of Neotropical forests at different elevations
Antagonistic	Mean species richness, total community abundance, functional group abundance, extinction frequency, and temporal variability in abundance	Latitude	Comparing raw properties	Tuck & Romanuk (2012)	Robustness to thermal variability differs along a latitudinal gradient in zooplankton communities
Antagonistic	Link, chain, omnivory properties	Altitude (river gradient)	Comparing raw properties	Romanuk et al. (2006)	The structure of food webs along river networks
Antagonistic	Trophic groups, linkage density, connectance, generality, vulnerability, trophic path length	Human impact	Comparing raw properties	Coll et al. (2011)	Food-web structure of seagrass communities across different spatial scales and human impacts
Antagonistic	Specialization	Latitude	Null model	Dalsgaard <i>et al.</i> (2017)	Opposed latitudinal patterns of network-derived and dietary specialization in avian plant–frugivore interaction systems
Mutualistic	Specialization	Latitude	Null model	Pauw & Stanway (2015)	Univalled specialization in a pollination network from South Africa reveals that specialization increases with latitude only in the Southern Hemisphere
Antagonistic	Mass ratios between trophic levels	Latitude	Comparing raw properties	Romero et al. (2016)	Food-web structure shaped by habitat size and climate across a latitudinal gradient
Antagonistic	Vulnerability, generality, link density, interaction diversity, compartment diversity	Landscape composition	Comparing raw properties	Fabian et al. (2013)	Importance of landscape and spatial structure for hymenopteran-based food webs in an agro-ecosystem

Table 1. Continued

Biological Reviews 93 (2018) 785-800 © 2017 Cambridge Philosophical Society



Fig. 2. Methods to compare ecological networks illustrated for the case study of plant-hummingbird mutualistic networks along an elevation gradient in Costa Rica: wet forest (50 m;  $10^{\circ}26'N$ ,  $84^{\circ}01'W$ ), pre-montane forest (1000 m;  $10^{\circ}16'N$ ,  $84^{\circ}05'$ W), and lower montane wet forest (2000 m;  $10^{\circ}11'$ N,  $84^{\circ}07'$ W). For further details about the study site, see Maglianesi et al. (2014). (A) Connectance and functional mismatch (measured as the mean absolute difference between bill and flower corolla length) versus elevation. (B) Observed functional matching compared to two null models: randomized 999 times within each local network (grey) and the niche model of species interaction (orange; Williams & Martinez, 2000). The black line represents the median, the upper and lower limits of the box are the first and third quartile, respectively, and the whiskers represent 1.5 times the distance between the first and third quartiles. (C) Correlation between the observed interaction frequencies and those expected from a metaweb assuming the highest frequency of interaction for species with matching bill and corolla standardized length.

#### (5) Comparison to a hypothesis-based metaweb

The metaweb represents potential interactions among all species from the regional pool (Dunne, 2006) and provides an alternative approach to compare the structure of ecological networks. Instead of assembling each local ecological network by randomly drawing from the overall interaction pool, as is generally done with null models (Schleuning et al., 2012; Sebastián-González et al., 2015), one can generate a network of expected interactions between all the species in the regional pool under specific constraints (Havens, 1992). The architecture of a metaweb can be based on pure random interactions, which would correspond to a regional random null model, or can further account for the species frequency distribution in the species pool, trait matching (Morales-Castilla et al., 2015; Bartomeus et al., 2016), or phylogenetic relatedness (Pellissier et al., 2013). The deviation of local networks from the metaweb can both inform whether the latter provides a sufficient approximation of realized networks or whether some local structure deviates more than others in particular parts of the environmental gradient. We illustrate in Fig. 3 different metawebs of trophic interactions among Mediterranean fish species built from species co-occurrence, trait or phylogenetic matching. We show that a Mediterranean metaweb built using body size provides a better fit to the local network in the Gulf of Gabes, a southern Mediterranean ecosystem along the Tunisian coast. In this example, only one local network is compared to the metaweb, but this analysis can be extended to an entire gradient (e.g. of bathymetry) and used to determine if there are locations where the body size relationship is not sufficient to explain the network complexity. Deviation of local ecological networks from the metaweb can be quantified using, for example, the True Skill Statistic (TSS; Allouche, Tsoar & Kadmon, 2006) for binary interactions (Fig. 3), or a correlation for quantitative links (Fig. 2C) and thus related to environmental gradients. For instance, Gravel et al. (2011) investigated 50 trophic networks in Canadian lakes and found that the structure of many local networks was different from that expected under a random metaweb, with much greater connectance and generality on average than the null expectation. This approach is adjustable to the hypotheses serving to create the metaweb, so that environment-specific deviations from expected rules (e.g. random, abundance-based, and trait-matching) can be quantified. This approach necessitates that the anticipated metaweb is based on ecologically sound assumptions, and will thus require some prior knowledge of the system.

#### (6) Network alignment

The alignments of the motifs within networks have been argued to provide a flexible approach to detect whether networks have a common core structure along environmental gradients (Morales-Castilla *et al.*, 2015). Alignment may be used to match motifs composed of several nodes among different networks. Conceptually, the method has some similarities with the alignment of sequences of nucleotides



**Fig. 3.** Hypothesis-based metaweb of fish from the Mediterranean Sea. Upper images show three contrasting hypothesis-based metawebs, based on (A) body size data from Barnes *et al.* (2008), (B) habitat preferences (e.g. benthic, pelagic; Albouy *et al.*, 2015) and (C) phylogenetic distance between groups of co-occurring species based on the phylogeny of Mediterranean fish in Meynard *et al.* (2012). Lower images show metaweb expectations compared to the observed food web for the Gulf of Gabes on the Tunisian coast (Hattab *et al.*, 2016). The grey colour on the graph represents the observed values, blue represents the expected values according to the hypothesis, and brown is the match between the expected and observed values. The body size hypothesis showed the strongest association to the observed Gabes food web with the highest True Skill Statistic (TSS) values (TSS<sub>size</sub> = 0.55, TSS<sub>habitat</sub> = 0.5, TSS<sub>phylo</sub> = 0.44). This comparison can be applied to any food web across the Mediterranean Sea.

performed to compute phylogenies, as it needs to maximize the motif match among networks using a cost function. The cost function could be simple (e.g. by looking at the fraction of matched interactions for each pair of nodes) or use a finer description of the topology. For instance, Stouffer et al. (2012) computed the motif profile for each node, i.e. the frequency at which a node belongs to a set of motifs – also called species role - and computed the average correlation between the profiles of pairs of nodes. This approach can be extended to evaluate the recurrence of common motifs across networks in distinct environments and can identify which conserved regions of the network are key to its functioning (Baker et al., 2015). This approach enables us to quantify the similarity of the topology between very different pairs of ecological networks, even those with no species in common, such as between marine and terrestrial systems. However, it still requires further development to become a standard tool for network comparison along environmental gradients.

## (7) Statistical model coupling co-occurrence with interactions

The dissimilarity among ecological networks along environmental gradients can be decomposed using a set of statistical models for species distributions and their interactions (Gravel *et al.*, 2016). Models of co-occurrence or co-variation in abundance, so called joint species distribution models, have

Biological Reviews 93 (2018) 785-800 © 2017 Cambridge Philosophical Society

been developed over the last decade (Pollock et al., 2014; Warton et al., 2015; Ovaskainen et al., 2017). These joint species distribution models predict species distributions based on environmental and spatial variables and allow sharing of information on species distribution and thereby improve the estimation of parameters. Statistical models might not only integrate co-occurrence, but also the interactions that link species to each other to account better for the way abiotic and biotic factors interact with each other to shape species assemblages along environmental gradients (Cazelles et al., 2016). For instance, Gravel et al. (2016) combined a co-occurrence model with a trait-matching model, both interacting with climatic variations, to understand more mechanistically the drivers of interaction turnover in plant-herbivore networks. The main limitation of this approach, however, is that it requires a large amount of replicated records of interactions along environmental gradients for calibration and to perform a suitable evaluation of the model parameters, including the interaction between abiotic and biotic effects.

## IV. WHAT IS THE BEST APPROACH FOR COMPARING ECOLOGICAL NETWORKS?

Studies comparing ecological networks along environmental gradients are relatively scarce in contrast to more traditional

community analyses looking at species richness or functional traits within a single trophic level. We reviewed 25 studies (Table 1) that compared ecological networks along a variety of gradients, including elevation (Devoto et al., 2005; Ramos-Jiliberto et al., 2010; Maunsell et al., 2015) and latitude (Sebastián-González et al., 2015). This limited number of studies contrasts with the hundreds of publications in community ecology (Götzenberger et al., 2012). The use of residual correlations and null models were the most common approaches to standardize and compare ecological networks along environmental gradients. Only one study used a metaweb (Gravel et al., 2011) or a full species co-occurrence-interaction coupled model (Gravel et al., 2016) to evaluate the role of the abiotic environment in shaping ecological networks. Moreover, most studies compared summary properties based on the distribution of links and network topologies along environmental gradients, and generally did not include functional traits. Researchers investigating the structure of ecological networks along gradients should agree on the most appropriate approach(es) given a data set, and ponder the nature of the variation - and its ecological interpretation – that is quantified.

#### (1) The plant-hummingbird case study

Here, we compare direct and standardized quantification of the structure of ecological networks using a data set of plant-hummingbird mutualistic interactions along an elevation gradient in Costa Rica. Maglianesi et al. (2014) recorded plant visitation by hummingbirds over a year at three different elevations in Costa Rica and constructed quantitative networks of interaction frequencies. Observations of interactions between plant and hummingbird species in the understorey were carried out using videotaping of flowers. Tracked individual plants were randomly selected for each species at each study site. To record visits of hummingbirds to individual plants, unattended cameras were fixed 10 m from open flowers for periods of 120 min between 06:00 and 14:00 h. Morphological traits for hummingbirds and plants were measured, including bill length and corolla length, which are expected to drive interactions in this type of network (Maglianesi et al., 2014).

## (2) Comparison of plant-hummingbird network properties

We compared the connectance along elevation to exemplify the direct use of a summary metric. We found that connectance decreased with elevation (Fig. 2A), while species richness was constant (low elevation network 28 species; medium elevation network 26 species; high elevation network 28 species). Connectance is a topological measure, representing the ratio of realized links over potential links. Even though they present the same species richness, the configuration of the three networks is different (e.g. 7 bird species and 21 plant species at low elevation; 9 bird species and 19 plant species at high elevation). The shape of the interaction matrices (lines  $\times$  columns) constrains the number of potential links and the connectance within each network. The variation in connectance may be due to environmental filtering acting on species co-occurrence or a change in how species interact, but a direct comparison of connectance provides limited information on those processes. We therefore combined ecological networks with species functional traits and evaluated the role of trait matching in constraining these interactions. We quantified the absolute mean difference between species bill and corolla length for each observed interaction. This unstandardized measure of functional mismatch was lowest for the low elevation sites, peaked at the middle elevation site and was low again in the highest elevation site (Fig. 2A). Using a direct approach, it remains unclear whether the trait-matching constraint changes over the gradient, or is driven by underlying changes in species functional traits in the species pool.

### (3) Comparison of trait matching with two null models

We next compared observed trait matching to two different null expectations, a model where the frequencies of interactions were randomized within each network and the niche model of food-web structure (Williams & Martinez, 2000). Compared to the random null model, all the observed trait matches were significantly lower than random, suggesting that the observed matching cannot be generated by a random distribution of the interactions within each network (Fig. 2B). The use of the niche model as a null hypothesis, as in Dunne, Williams & Martinez (2004), provides more conservative results, with the middle-elevation site not different from the null model. These results suggest that the partitioning of interactions between hummingbirds and plants along a directional niche axis (defined with a centroid and a range) is sufficient to explain the structure of the middle-elevation site, while the other methods suggest a more complex structure. In these cases, the centroid and range of the empirical networks are not random, and show more pronounced niche partitioning due to traits. Hence, the selection of the appropriate null model, either straight randomization (Schleuning et al., 2012), or the niche model (Dunne et al., 2004), should be explicitly justified and its hypothesis clearly established.

#### (4) The use of hypothesis-based metaweb

We built hypothesis-based metawebs to which local ecological networks can be compared. We constructed a metaweb assuming perfect matching between bill and flower length (Maglianesi *et al.*, 2014). With this hypothesis, interactions are expected to be more frequent near the 1:1 line of a matrix, in which hummingbird bill and plant corolla are ordered by size. The middle-elevation site is slightly lower, but all sites conform moderately well to the metaweb-based hypothesis of functional matching, with the highest elevation showing the best match (Fig. 2C). For comparison, we generated a set of 999 random metawebs and extracted

from each three local webs. We tested whether similar levels of correlation between the observed and modelled interaction arose from random regional metawebs. As found with the randomization performed within each network using the null-model approach, the correlation from a subset of the functional metaweb was higher than from a subset of a random regional metaweb. This indicates that all three networks are more consistent with functional matching than random assembly.

## (5) Conclusions from the plant-hummingbird networks

Together, the direct (Fig. 2A, B) and the standardized approaches (Fig. 2C) provide different insights into how and why the structure of plant-hummingbird ecological networks varies along this elevation gradient. Scoring of sites in terms of intensity of matching differed in a direct comparison of the matching values (mean difference between species bill and corolla length in mm: low = 0.2, middle = 0.27, high = 0.22; Fig. 2A), the random null model (SES: low = -4.37, middle = -3.9, high = -3.5; Fig. 2B), the niche model (SES: low = -2.58, middle = -1.28, high = -2.9; Fig. 2B) and after a standardization with a metaweb (correlation to the functional metaweb: low = 0.22, middle = 0.17, high = 0.29; Fig. 2C). While the SES of the null model decreased with increasing elevation, the ranking of SES for the niche model showed a different order, with the greatest value in the high-elevation site. Finally, the highest elevation site also provided a better match for the hypothesis of trait matching as evidenced by the metaweb comparison. Although the plant-hummingbird case provides a first caution regarding the importance of methodological choice in a comparison of ecological networks, evaluating a greater variety of networks (e.g. antagonistic) across different environmental gradients and with different methods is needed. Our illustration calls for a careful selection of appropriate methods according to prior hypotheses, since the selection of the method will essentially determine the variation being analysed.

#### **V. CONCLUSIONS**

(1) There is a limited number of investigations of ecological network variation along environmental gradients because of the difficulty of quantifying interactions among species. Nevertheless, we expect that the rise of molecular techniques will allow better and faster quantification of ecological networks (Pompanon *et al.*, 2012; Roslin & Majaneva, 2016; Vacher *et al.*, 2016), allowing more spatial replication along environmental gradients. Moreover, the use of automated recording systems (Weinstein, 2015; Bohan *et al.*, 2017) is also expected to expedite the collection of interaction data compared with manual techniques.

(2) Species information such as functional traits should be collected together with interactions in order to reach a good

ecological understanding of why ecological networks vary along gradients. Alternatively, trait data might be gathered from available databases in isolation from the interaction, but the resulting analyses would not be able to highlight intraspecific co-variation between phenotypic traits and network structure along environmental gradients. When trait data are unavailable, a comparison of ecological networks along environmental gradients is limited to approaches that do not rely on functional traits (e.g. Dalsgaard *et al.*, 2013; Sebastián-González *et al.*, 2015), but that might provide more limited ecological inferences.

(3) Several approaches have been used to compare ecological networks either by analysing raw properties or using forms of standardization. Our review and case study suggest that different approaches are not directly comparable, and that this precludes, for the present, any meta-analysis of network variation along multiple gradients. Beyond analytical results, we call for further efforts to facilitate the exchange of raw data of species interaction networks along environmental gradients [e.g. MANGAL (Poisot et al., 2016), 'Interactionweb' or 'Web of Life']. Finally, studies comparing different approaches using empirical (e.g. bipartite antagonistic or mutualistic networks, food webs) or simulated data sets and discussing methodological bias are critical to provide guidance to select an appropriate methodology when comparing ecological networks.

(4) We stress the need to agree on the most appropriate methodology to compare ecological networks along environmental gradients – on the one hand, when only data on network structure are available, and on the other when functional traits are also available. It is unlikely that one methodology can be used to answer all possible questions and future research should focus on understanding links between the different methodologies and the questions that they may answer.

#### VI. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank the CUSO, who financed a workshop in Switzerland, and Laure Gallien and Damaris Zurell, who organised a workshop in Germany. This study was financed by the National Swiss Fund for research (SNSF) project "Lif3web", n°162604. M.L. was supported by the TULIP Laboratory of Excellence (ANR-10-LABX-41). W.T. acknowledges support from the ANR GlobNets project (ANR-16-CE02-0009). G.W. acknowledges support from NERC (NE/M020843/1). N.E.Z. acknowledges support from SNSF (grants 31003A\_149508 and 310030L\_170059). J.B. was supported by a European Research Council's Advanced Grant. M.A.M. acknowledges financial support from Consejo Nacional para Investigaciones Científicas y Tecnológicas and Ministerio de Ciencia y Tecnología, Universidad Estatal a Distancia, Organization for Tropical Studies, German Academic Exchange Service and the research-funding program 'LOEWE-Landes-Offensive zur

Entwicklung Wissenschaftlich-o" konomischer Exzellenz" of Hesse's Ministry of Higher Education, Research, and the Arts.

#### **VII. REFERENCES**

- AIZEN, M. A., GLEISER, G., SABATINO, M., GILARRANZ, L. J., BASCOMPTE, J. & VERDÚ, M. (2016). The phylogenetic structure of plant-pollinator networks increases with habitat size and isolation. *Ecology Letters* 19, 29–36.
- AIZEN, M. A., MORALES, C. L., MORALES, J. M., GOULSON, D. & NOWAKOWSKI, M. (2008). Invasive mutualists erode native pollination webs. *PLoS Biology* 6, e31.
- ALBOUY, C., LASRAM, F. B. R., VELEZ, L., GUILHAUMON, F., MEYNARD, C. N., BOYER, S., BENESTAN, L., MOUQUET, N., DOUZERY, E., AZNAR, R., TROUSSELLIER, M., SOMOT, S., LEPRIEUR, F., LE LOC''H, F. & MOUILLOT, D. (2015). FishMed: traits, phylogeny, current and projected species distribution of Mediterranean fishes, and environmental data. *Ecology* **96**, 2312–2313.
- ALBOUY, C., VELEZ, L., COLL, M., COLLOCA, F., LE LOC'H, F., MOUILLOT, D. & GRAVEL, D. (2014). From projected species distribution to food-web structure under climate change. *Global Change Biology* 20, 730–741.
- ALBRECHT, M., PADRÓN, B., BARTOMEUS, I. & TRAVESET, A. (2014). Consequences of plant invasions on compartmentalization and species 'roles in plant-pollinator networks. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B* 281. https://doi.org/10 .1098/rspb.2014.0773.
- ALLOUCHE, O., TSOAR, A. & KADMON, R. J. (2006). Assessing the accuracy of species distribution models: prevalence, kappa and the true skill statistic (TSS). *Journal of Applied Ecology* 43, 1223–1232.
- BAKER, N. J., KAARTINEN, R., ROSLIN, T. & STOUFFER, D. B. (2015). Species' roles in food webs show fidelity across a highly variable oak forest. *Ecography* 38, 130–139.
- BARNES, C., BETHEA, D. M., BRODEUR, R. D., SPITZ, J., RIDOUX, V., PUSINERI, C., CHASE, B. C., HUNSICKER, M. E., JUANES, F., KELLERMANN, A., LANCASTER, J., MÉNARD, F., BARD, F. X., MUNK, P., PINNEGAR, J. K., et al. (2008). Predator and prey body size in marine food webs. *Ecology* 89, 881–881.
- BARTOMEUS, I., GRAVEL, D., TYLIANAKIS, J. M., AIZEN, M. A., DICKIE, I. A. & BERNARD-VERDIER, M. (2016). A common framework for identifying linkage rules across different types of interactions. *Functional Ecology* **30**, 1894–1903.
- BASCOMPTE, J., JORDANO, P., MELIÁN, C. J. & OLESEN, J. M. (2003). The nested assembly of plant-animal mutualistic networks. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 100, 9383–9387.
- BASCOMPTE, J. & MELIÁN, C. J. (2005). Simple trophic modules for complex food webs. *Ecology* 86, 2868–2873.
- BEAUMONT, M. A. (2010). Approximate Bayesian computation in evolution and ecology. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 41, 379–406.
- BECKERMAN, A. P., PETCHEY, O. L. & WARREN, P. H. (2006). Foraging biology predicts food web complexity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 103, 13745–13749.
- DE BELLO, F., LAVOREL, S., LAVERGNE, S., ALBERT, C. H., BOULANGEAT, I., MAZEL, F. & THUILLER, W. (2013). Hierarchical effects of environmental filters on the functional structure of plant communities: a case study in the French Alps. *Ecography* **36**, 393–402.
- BLÜTHGEN, N., FRÜND, J., VAZQUEZ, D. P. & MENZEL, F. (2008). What do interaction network metrics tell us about specialization and biological traits. *Ecology* 89, 3387–3399.
- BOHAN, D. A., VACHER, C., TAMADDONI-NEZHAD, A., RAYBOULD, A., DUMBRELL, A. J. & WOODWARD, G. (2017). Next-generation global biomonitoring: large-scale, automated reconstruction of ecological networks. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 32, 477–487.
- BROSE, U., WILLIAMS, R. J. & MARTINEZ, N. D. (2006). Allometric scaling enhances stability in complex food webs. *Ecology Letters* 9, 1228–1236.
- CANARD, E. F., MOUQUET, N., MOUILLOT, D., STANKO, M., MIKLISOVA, D. & GRAVEL, D. (2014). Empirical evaluation of neutral interactions in host-parasite networks. *The American Naturalist* 183, 468–479.
- CATTIN, M. F., BERSIER, L. F., BANASEK-RICHTER, C., BALTENSPERGER, R. & GABRIEL, J. P. (2004). Phylogenetic constraints and adaptation explain food-web structure. *Nature* 427, 835–839.
- CAZELLES, K., ARAÚJO, M. B., MOUQUET, N. & GRAVEL, D. (2016). A theory for species co-occurrence in interaction networks. *Theoretical Ecology* 9, 39–48.
- CHASE, J. M. (2003). Strong and weak trophic cascades along a productivity gradient. Oikos 101, 187–195.
- CHOLER, P., MICHALET, R. & CALLAWAY, R. M. (2001). Facilitation and competition on gradients in apline plant communities. *Ecology* 82, 3295–3308.
- CIRTWILL, A. R. & STOUFFER, D. B. (2016). Knowledge of predator-prey interactions improves predictions of immigration and extinction in island biogeography. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 25, 900–911.

- CLARKE, K. R. & WARWICK, R. M. (1999). The taxonomic distinctness measure of biodiversity: weighting of step lengths between hierarchical levels. *Marine Ecology*-*Progress Series* 184, 21–29.
- CLAUSET, A., MOORE, C. & NEWMAN, M. E. J. (2008). Hierarchical structure and the prediction of missing links in networks. *Nature* **453**, 98–101.
- COLL, M., SCHMIDT, A., ROMANUK, T., LOTZE, H. K. & OSMAN, R. (2011). Food-web structure of seagrass communities across different spatial scales and human impacts. *PLoS ONE* 6, e22591.
- CORNWELL, W. K. & ACKERLY, D. D. (2009). Community assembly and shifts in plant trait distributions across an environmental gradient in coastal California. *Ecological Monographs* 79, 109–126.
- DAINESE, M., LEPŠ, J. & DE BELLO, F. (2015). Different effects of elevation, habitat fragmentation and grazing management on the functional, phylogenetic and taxonomic structure of mountain grasslands. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution* and Systematics 17, 44–53.
- DALSGAARD, B., MAGÅRD, E., FJELDSÅ, J., MARTÍN GONZÁLEZ, A. M., RAHBEK, C., OLESEN, J. M., OLLERTON, J., ALARCÓN, R., CARDOSO ARAUJO, A., COTTON, P. A., LARA, C., MACHADO, C. G., SAZIMA, I., SAZIMA, M., TIMMERMANN, A., WATTS, S., et al. (2011). Specialization in plant-hummingbird networks is associated with species richness, contemporary precipitation and quaternary climate-change velocity. *PLoS ONE* 6, e25891.
- DALSGAARD, B., SCHLEUNING, M., MARUYAMA, P. K., DEHLING, D. M., SONNE, J., VIZENTIN-BUGONI, J., ZANATA, T. B., FJELDSÅ, J., BÖHNING-GAESE, K. & RAHBEK, C. (2017). Opposed latitudinal patterns of network-derived and dietary specialization in avian plant-frugivore interaction systems. *Ecography* 40, 001–007. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.02604.
- DALSGAARD, B., TRØJELSGAARD, K., MARTÍN GONZÁLEZ, A. M., NOGUÉS-BRAVO, D., OLLERTON, J., PETANIDOU, T., SANDEL, B., SCHLEUNING, M., WANG, Z., RAHBEK, C., SUTHERLAND, W. J., SVENNING, J.-C. & OLESEN, J. M. (2013). Historical climate-change influences modularity and nestedness of pollination networks. *Ecography* 36, 1331–1340.
- DEVOTO, M., MEDAN, D. & MONTALDO, N. H. (2005). Patterns of interaction between plants and pollinators along an environmental gradient. *Oikos* 109, 461–472.
- DIAMOND, J. M. & CODY, M. L. (1975). Assembly of species community. In *Ecology And Evolution of Communities* (Volume, eds M. L. CODY and J. DIAMOND), pp. 342–344. Belknap, Cambridge.
- DISERUD, O. H. & ODEGAARD, F. (2007). A multiple-site similarity measure. Biology Letters 3, 20–22.
- DUNNE, J. A. (2006). The network structure of food webs. In *Ecological Networks: Linking Structure to Dynamics in Food Webs*, pp. 27–92. Oxford University Press, New York, USA.
- DUNNE, J. A., WILLIAMS, R. J. & MARTINEZ, N. D. (2002). Food-web structure and network theory: The role of connectance and size. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America 99, 12917–12922.
- DUNNE, J. A., WILLIAMS, R. J. & MARTINEZ, N. D. (2004). Network structure and robustness of marine food webs. *Marine Ecology – Progress Series* 273, 291–302.
- ELTON, C. S. (1924). Periodic fluctuations in the numbers of animals: their causes and effects. British Journal of Experimental Biology 2, 119–163.
- FABIAN, Y., SANDAU, N., BRUGGISSER, O. T., AEBI, A., KEHRLI, P., ROHR, R. P., NAISBIT, R. E. & BERSIER, L.-F. (2013). The importance of landscape and spatial structure for hymenopteran-based food webs in an agro-ecosystem. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 82, 1203–1214.
- GARCÍA-ROBLEDO, C., ERICKSON, D. L., STAINES, C. L., ERWIN, T. L. & KRESS, W.J. (2013). Tropical plant–herbivore networks: reconstructing species interactions using DNA barcodes. *PLoS QNE* 8, e52967.
- GONZALEZ, M. A., ROGER, A., COURTOIS, E. A., JABOT, F., NORDEN, N., PAINE, C. E. T., BARALOTO, C., THEBAUD, C. & CHAVE, J. (2010). Shifts in species and phylogenetic diversity between sapling and tree communities indicate negative density dependence in a lowland rain forest. *Journal of Ecology* **98**, 137–146.
- GONZÁLEZ-VARO, J. P., ARROYO, J. M. & JORDANO, P. (2014). Who dispersed the seeds? The use of DNA barcoding in frugivory and seed dispersal studies. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 5, 806–814.
- GOTELLI, N. J. (2001). A Primer of Ecology, Third Edition (Sinauer Associates, Inc., Sunderland.
- GOTELLI, N. J. & COLWELL, R. K. (2001). Quantifying biodiversity: procedures and pitfalls in the measurement and comparison of species richness. *Ecology Letters* 4, 379–391.
- GOTELLI, N. J. & GRAVES, G. R. (1996). Null Models in Ecology. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington.
- GÖTZENBERGER, L., DE BELLO, F., BRÅTHEN, K. A., DAVISON, J., DUBUIS, A., GUISAN, A., LEPŠ, J., LINDBORG, R., MOORA, M., PÄRTEL, M., PELLISSIER, L., POTTIER, J., VITTOZ, P., ZOBEL, K. & ZOBEL, M. (2012). Ecological assembly rules in plant communities-approaches, patterns and prospects. *Biological Reviews* 87, 111–127.
- GRAHAM, C. H., PARRA, J. L., RAHBEK, C. & MCGUIRE, J. A. (2009). Phylogenetic structure in tropical hummingbird communities. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 106, 19673–19678.

Biological Reviews 93 (2018) 785-800 © 2017 Cambridge Philosophical Society

- GRAVEL, D., BAISER, B., DUNE, J. A., KOPELKE, J.-P., MARTINEZ, N. D., NYMAN, T., POISOT, T., STOUFFER, D. B., TYLIANAKIS, J. M., WOOD, S. A. & ROSLIN, T. (2016). Bringing Elton and Grinnell together: a quantitative framework to represent the biogeography of ecological interaction networks. *bioRxiv*. https://doi.org/10 .1101/055558.
- GRAVEL, D., MASSOL, F., CANARD, E., MOUILLOT, D. & MOUQUET, N. (2011). Trophic theory of island biogeography. *Ecology Letters* 14, 1010–1016.
- GRAVEL, D., POISOT, T., ALBOUY, C., VELEZ, L. & MOUILLOT, D. (2013). Inferring food web structure from predator-prey body size relationships. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 4, 1083–1090.
- HATTAB, T., LEPRIEUR, F., BEN RAIS LASRAM, F., GRAVEL, D., LOC'H, F. L. & ALBOUY, C. (2016). Forecasting fine-scale changes in the food-web structure of coastal marine communities under climate change. *Ecography* 39, 1227–1237.
- HAVENS, K. (1992). Scale and structure in natural food webs. *Science* 257, 1107–1109.
  HUDSON, L. N., EMERSON, R., JENKINS, G. B., LAYER, K., LEDGER, M. E., PICHLER, D. E., THOMPSON, M. S. A., O'GORMAN, E. J., WOODWARD, G. & REUMAN, D. C. (2013). Cheddar: analysis and visualisation of ecological communities in R. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 4, 99–104.
- JORDANO, P. (1987). Patterns of mutualistic interactions in pollination and seed dispersal: connectance, dependence asymmetries, and coevolution. *The American Naturalist* 129, 657–677.
- JORDANO, P., BASCOMPTE, J. & OLESEN, J. M. (2003). Invariant properties in coevolutionary networks of plant-animal interactions. *Ecology Letters* 6, 69–81.
- JURADO-RIVERA, J. A., VOGLER, A. P., REID, C. A. M., PETITPIERRE, E. & GÓMEZ-ZURITA, J. (2009). DNA barcoding insect-host plant associations. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B: Biological Sciences 276, 639–648.
- KISSLING, W. D., DORMANN, C. F., GROENEVELD, J., HICKLER, T., KUHN, I., MCINERNY, G. J., MONTOYA, J. M., ROMERMANN, C., SCHIFFERS, K., SCHURR, F. M., SINGER, A., SVENNING, J. C., ZIMMERMANN, N. E. & O'HARA, R. B. (2012). Towards novel approaches to modelling biotic interactions in multispecies assemblages at large spatial extents. *Journal of Biogeography* 39, 2163–2178.
- KISSLING, W. D. & SCHLEUNING, M. (2015). Multispecies interactions across trophic levels at macroscales: retrospective and future directions. *Ecography* 38, 346–357.
- KOPP, D., LEFEBVRE, S., CACHERA, M., VILLANUEVA, M. C. & ERNANDE, B. (2015). Reorganization of a marine trophic network along an inshore–offshore gradient due to stronger pelagic–benthic coupling in coastal areas. *Progress in Oceanography* 130, 157–171.
- KRASNOV, B. R., FORTUNA, M. A., MOUILLOT, D., KHOKHLOVA, I. S., SHENBROT, G. I. & POULIN, R. (2012). Phylogenetic signal in module composition and species connectivity in compartmentalized host-parasite networks. *American Naturalist* 179, 501–511.
- KRASNOV, B. R., MOUILLOT, D., SHENBROT, G. I., KHOKHLOVA, I. S. & POULIN, R. (2004). Geographical variation in host specificity of fleas (Siphonaptera) parasitic on small mammals: the influence of phylogeny and local environmental conditions. *Ecography* 27, 787–797.
- LAFFERTY, K. D., ALLESINA, S., ARIM, M., BRIGGS, C. J., DE LEO, G., DOBSON, A. P., DUNNE, J. A., JOHNSON, P. T. J., KURIS, A. M., MARCOGLIESE, D. J., MARTINEZ, N. D., MEMMOTT, J., MARQUET, P. A., MCLAUGHLIN, J. P., MORDECAI, E. A., PASCUAL, M., POULIN, R. & THIELTGES, D. W. (2008). Parasites in food webs: the ultimate missing links. *Ecology Letters* 11, 533–546.
- LAYER, K., HILDREW, A., MONTEITH, D. & WOODWARD, G. (2010). Long-term variation in the littoral food web of an acidified mountain lake. *Global Change Biology* 16, 3133–3143.
- LAYER, K., HILDREW, A. G. & WOODWARD, G. (2013). Grazing and detritivory in 20 stream food webs across a broad pH gradient. *Oecologia* **171**, 459–471.
- LEGENDRE, P., BORCARD, D. & PERES-NETO, P. R. (2005). Analyzing beta diversity: Partitioning the spatial variation of community composition data. *Ecological Monographs* **75**, 435–450.
- LEIBOLD, M. A. (1995). The niche concept revisited: mechanistic models and community context. *Ecology* 76, 1371–1382.
- LINDEMAN, R. L. (1942). The trophic-dynamic aspect of ecology. *Ecology* 23, 399-417.
- LOMOLINO, M. V. (2001). Elevation gradients of species-density: historical and prospective views. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* **10**, 3–13.
- MACPHERSON, E. (2002). Large-scale species-richness gradients in the Atlantic Ocean. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B: Biological Sciences 269, 1715–1720.
- MAGLIANESI, M. A., BLÜTHGEN, N., BÖHNING-GAESE, K. & SCHLEUNING, M. (2014). Morphological traits determine specialization and resource use in plant-hummingbird networks in the neotropics. *Ecology* **95**, 3325–3334.
- MARGALEF, R. (1963). On certain unifying principles in Ecology. The American Naturalist 97, 357–374.
- MARTÍN GONZÁLEZ, A. M., DALSGAARD, B., NOGUÉS-BRAVO, D., GRAHAM, C. H., SCHLEUNING, M., MARUYAMA, P. K., ABRAHAMCZYK, S., ALARCÓN, R., ARAUJO, A. C., ARAÚJO, F. P., AZEVEDO, d., SEVERINO, M., BAQUERO, A. C., COTTON, P. A., INGVERSEN, T. T., KOHLER, G., et al. (2015). The macroecology of phylogenetically structured hummingbird-plant networks. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 24, 1212–1224.
- MARTINEZ, N. D. (1992). Constant connectance in community food webs. *The American Naturalist* 139, 1208–1218.

- MAUNSELL, S. C., KITCHING, R. L., BURWELL, C. J. & MORRIS, R. J. (2015). Changes in host-parasitoid food web structure with elevation. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 84, 353–363.
- MAY, R. M. (1972). Will a large complex system be stable? Nature 238, 413-414.
- MELIÁN, C. J., KŘIVAN, V., ALTERMATT, F., STARÝ, P., PELLISSIER, L. & DE LAENDER, F. (2015). Dispersal dynamics in food webs. *The American Naturalist* 185, 157–168.
- MEMMOTT, J. (1999). The structure of a plant-pollinator food web. *Ecology Letters* 2, 276–280.
- MEYNARD, C. N., MOUILLOT, D., MOUQUET, N. & DOUZERY, E. J. P. (2012). A phylogenetic perspective on the evolution of Mediterranean teleost fishes. *PLoS ONE* 7, e36443.
- MILO, R., SHEN-ORR, S., ITZKOVITZ, S., KASHTAN, N., CHKLOVSKII, D. & ALON, U. (2002). Network motifs: simple building blocks of complex networks. *Science* 298, 824–827.
- MONTOVA, J. M., PIMM, S. L. & SOLE, R. V. (2006). Ecological networks and their fragility. *Nature* 442, 259–264.
- MORALES-CASTILLA, I., MATIAS, M. G., GRAVEL, D. & ARAÚJO, M. B. (2015). Inferring biotic interactions from proxies. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **30**, 347–356.
- MORRIS, R. J., GRIPENBERG, S., LEWIS, O. T. & ROSLIN, T. (2014). Antagonistic interaction networks are structured independently of latitude and host guild. *Ecology Letters* 17, 340–349.
- O'GORMAN, E. J., BENSTEAD, J. P., CROSS, W. F., FRIBERG, N., HOOD, J. M., JOHNSON, P. W., SIGURDSSON, B. D. & WOODWARD, G. (2014). Climate change and geothermal ecosystems: natural laboratories, sentinel systems, and future refugia. *Global Change Biology* 20, 3291–3299.
- O'GORMAN, E. J., ÓLAFSSON, Ó. P., DEMARS, B. O. L., FRIBERG, N., GUØBERGSSON, G., HANNESDÓTTIR, E. R., JACKSON, M. C., JOHANSSON, L. S., MCLAUGHLIN, Ó. B., ÓLAFSSON, J. S., WOODWARD, G. & GÍSLASON, G. M. (2016). Temperature effects on fish production across a natural thermal gradient. *Global Change Biology* 22, 3206–3220.
- ODUM, H. (1956). Primary production in flowing waters. Limnology and Oceanography 1, 102–117.
- ODUM, W. & HEALD, E. (1975). Mangrove forests and aquatic productivity. In *Coupling of Land and Water Systems* (Volume, ed. A. D. HASLER), pp. 129–136. Springer, Heidelberg.
- OLESEN, J. M., BASCOMPTE, J., DUPONT, Y. L. & JORDANO, P. (2007). The modularity of pollination networks. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America 104, 19891–19896.
- OLESEN, J. M. & JORDANO, P. (2002). Geographic patterns in plant-pollinator mutualistic networks. *Ecology* 83, 2416-2424.
- OLESEN, J. M., STEFANESCU, C., TRAVESET, A., AMARASEKARE, P. & CHASE, J. (2011). Strong, long-term temporal dynamics of an ecological network. *PLoS ONE* **6**, e26455.
- OLLERTON, J., MCCOLLIN, D., FAUTIN, D. G. & ALLEN, G. R. (2007). Finding NEMO: nestedness engendered by mutualistic organization in anemonefish and their hosts. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B: Biological Sciences* 274, 591–598.
- OSORIO, S., ARNAN, X., BASSOLS, E., VICENS, N. & BOSCH, J. (2015). Local and landscape effects in a host–parasitoid interaction network along a forest–cropland gradient. *Ecological Applications* 25, 1869–1879.
- OVASKAINEN, O., TIKHONOV, G., NORBERG, A., GUILLAUME BLANCHET, F., DUAN, L., DUNSON, D., ROSLIN, T. & ABREGO, N. (2017). How to make more out of community data? A conceptual framework and its implementation as models and software. *Ecology Letters* 20, 561–576.
- PAINE, R. T. (1966). Food web complexity and species diversity. *The American Naturalist* 100, 65–75.
- PAUW, A. & STANWAY, R. (2015). Unrivalled specialization in a pollination network from South Africa reveals that specialization increases with latitude only in the Southern Hemisphere. *Journal of Biogeography* 42, 652–661.
- PELLISSIER, L., FIEDLER, K., NDRIBE, C., DUBUIS, A., PRADERVAND, J.-N., GUISAN, A. & RASMANN, S. (2012). Shifts in species richness, herbivore specialization, and plant resistance along elevation gradients. *Ecology and Evolution* 2, 1818–1825.
- PELLISSIER, L., FOURNIER, B., GUISAN, A. & VITTOZ, P. (2010). Plant traits co-vary with altitude in grasslands and forests in the European Alps. *Plant Ecology* 211, 351–365.
- PELLISSIER, L., ROHR, R. P., NDIRIBE, C., PRADERVAND, J.-N., SALAMIN, N., GUISAN, A. & WISZ, M. (2013). Combining food web and species distribution models for improved community projections. *Ecology and Evolution* 3, 4572–4583.
- PERES-NETO, P. R. (2004). Patterns in the co-occurrence of fish species in streams: the role of site suitability, morphology and phylogeny versus species interactions. *Oecologia* 140, 352–360.
- PETCHEY, O. L., BROSE, U. & RALL, B. C. (2010). Predicting the effects of temperature on food web connectance. *Philosophical Transaction of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* 365, 2081–2091.

PETCHEY, O. L., EKLOF, A., BORRVALL, C. & EBENMAN, B. (2008). Trophically unique species are vulnerable to cascading extinction. *American Naturalist* 171, 568–579.

- PIMM, S. L. (1991). The balance of nature? Ecological issues in the conservation of species and communities. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, USA.
- POISOT, T., BAISER, B., DUNNE, J. A., KÉFI, S., MASSOL, F., MOUQUET, N., ROMANUK, T. N., STOUFFER, D. B., WOOD, S. A. & GRAVEL, D. (2016). Mangal – making ecological network analysis simple. *Ecography* **39**, 384–390.
- POISOT, T., CANARD, E., MOUILLOT, D., MOUQUET, N. & GRAVEL, D. (2012). The dissimilarity of species interaction networks. *Ecology Letters* 15, 1353-1361.
- POISOT, T. & GRAVEL, D. (2014). When is an ecological network complex? Connectance drives degree distribution and emerging network properties. *Peeff* 2, e251.
- POLIS, G. A., ANDERSON, W. B. & HOLT, R. D. (1997). Toward an integration of landscape and food web ecology: the dynamics of spatially subsidized food webs. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 28, 289–316.
- POLLOCK, L. J., TINGLEY, R., MORRIS, W. K., GOLDING, N., O'HARA, R. B., PARRIS, K. M., VESK, P. A. & MCCARTHY, M. A. (2014). Understanding co-occurrence by modelling species simultaneously with a Joint Species Distribution Model (JSDM). *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 5, 397–406.
- $Polovina, J. J. (1984). \ Coral \ reefs \ model \ of \ a \ coral \ reef \ ecosystem. \ Coral \ Reefs \ 3, \ l-11.$
- POMPANON, F., DEAGLE, B. E., SYMONDSON, W. O. C., BROWN, D. S., JARMAN, S. N. & TABERLET, P. (2012). Who is eating what: diet assessment using next generation sequencing. *Molecular Ecology* 21, 1931–1950.
- POTTIER, J., DUBUIS, A., PELLISSIER, L., MAIORANO, L., ROSSIER, L., RANDIN, C. F., VITTOZ, P. & GUISAN, A. (2013). The accuracy of plant assemblage prediction from species distribution models varies along environmental gradients. *Global Ecology* and *Biogeography* 22, 52–63.
- POUILLY, M., BARRERA, S. & ROSALES, C. (2006). Changes of taxonomic and trophic structure of fish assemblages along an environmental gradient in the Upper Beni watershed (Bolivia). *Journal of Fish Biology* 68, 137–156.
- RAMOS-JILIBERTO, R., DOMÍNGUEZ, D., ESPINOZA, C., LÓPEZ, G., VALDOVINOS, F. S., BUSTAMANTE, R. O. & MEDEL, R. (2010). Topological change of Andean plant-pollinator networks along an altitudinal gradient. *Ecological Complexity* 7, 86–90.
- REISS, J., BRIDLE, J. R., MONTOYA, J. M. & WOODWARD, G. J. (2009). Emerging horizons in biodiversity and ecosystem functioning research. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 24, 505-514.
- REZENDE, E. L., LAVABRE, J. E., GUIMARÃES, P. R., JORDANO, P. & BASCOMPTE, J. (2007). Non-random coextinctions in phylogenetically structured mutualistic networks. *Nature* 448, 925–928.
- ROHR, R. P. & BASCOMPTE, J. (2014). Components of phylogenetic signal in antagonistic and mutualistic networks. *The American Naturalist* **184**, 556–564.
- ROHR, R. P., SCHERER, H., KEHRLI, P., MAZZA, C. & BERSIER, L.-F. (2010). Modeling food webs: exploring unexplained structure using latent traits. *American Naturalist* 176, 170–177.
- ROMANUK, T. N., JACKSON, L. J., POST, J. R., MCCAULEY, E. & MARTINEZ, N. D. (2006). The structure of food webs along river networks. *Ecography* 29, 3–10.
- ROMERO, G. Q., PICCOLI, G. C. O., DE OMENA, P. M. & GONÇALVES-SOUZA, T. (2016). Food web structure shaped by habitat size and climate across a latitudinal gradient. *Ecology* 97, 2705–2715.
- ROSLIN, T. & MAJANEVA, S. (2016). The use of DNA barcodes in food web construction – terrestrial and aquatic ecologists unite! *Genome* 59. https://doi.org/ 10.1139/gen-2015-0229.
- LE ROUX, P. C., VIRTANEN, R., HEIKKINEN, R. K. & LUOTO, M. (2012). Biotic interactions affect the elevational ranges of high-latitude plant species. *Ecography* 35, 1048–1056.
- SANTAMARIA, L. & RODRIGUEZ-GIRONES, M. A. (2007). Linkage rules for plant-pollinator networks: trait complementarity or exploitation barriers? *PLoS Biology* 5, 354–362.
- SCHLEUNING, M., BLÜTHGEN, N., FLÖRCHINGER, M., BRAUN, J., SCHAEFER, H. M. & BÖHNING-GAESE, K. (2011). Specialization and interaction strength in a tropical plant-frugivore network differ among forest strata. *Ecology* 92, 26–36.
- SCHLEUNING, M., FRÜND, J. & GARCÍA, D. (2015). Predicting ecosystem functions from biodiversity and mutualistic networks: an extension of trait-based concepts to plant-animal interactions. *Ecography* **38**, 380–392.
- SCHLEUNING, M., FRÜND, J., KLEIN, A.-M., ABRAHAMCZYK, S., ALARCÓN, R., ALBRECHT, M., ANDERSSON, G. K. S., BAZARIAN, S., BÖHNING-GAESE, K., BOMMARCO, R., DALSGAARD, B., DEHLING, D. M., GOTLIEB, A., HAGEN, M., HICKLER, T., et al. (2012). Specialization of mutualistic interaction networks decreases toward tropical latitudes. *Current Biology* 22, 1925–1931.
- SEBASTIÁN-GONZÁLEZ, E., DALSGAARD, B., SANDEL, B. & GUIMARÃES, P. R. (2015). Macroecological trends in nestedness and modularity of seed-dispersal networks: human impact matters. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 24, 293–303.

- SHIN, Y. J. & CURY, P. (2001). Exploring fish community dynamics through size-dependent trophic interactions using a spatialized individual-based model. *Aquatic Living Resources* 14, 65–80.
- SHIPLEY, B., VILE, D. & GARNIER, É. (2006). From plant traits to plant communities: a statistical mechanistic approach to biodiversity. *Science* **314**, 812–814.
- SIMBERLOFF, D. (1978). Use of rarefaction and related methods in ecology. In Biological Data in Water Pollution Assessment: Quantitative and Statistical Analyses, pp. 150–165. ASTM International, West Conshohocken.
- STANG, M., KLINKHAMER, P. G. L. & VAN DER MEIJDEN, E. (2007). Asymmetric specialization and extinction risk in plant-flower visitor webs: a matter of morphology or abundance? *Oecologia* 151, 442–453.
- STOUFFER, D. B. & BASCOMPTE, J. (2011). Compartmentalization increases food-web persistence. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108, 3648–3652.
- STOUFFER, D. B., CAMACHO, J., JIANG, W. & NUNES AMARAL, L. A. (2007). Evidence for the existence of a robust pattern of prey selection in food webs. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B: Biological Sciences* 274, 1931–1940.
- STOUFFER, D. B., SALES-PARDO, M., SIRER, M. I. & BASCOMPTE, J. (2012). Evolutionary conservation of species' roles in food webs. *Science* 335, 1489–1492.
- TERBORGH, J., ROBINSON, S. K., PARKER, T. A., MUNN, C. A. & PIERPONT, N. (1990). Structure and organization of an amazonian forest bird community. *Ecological Monographs* **60**, 213–238.
- THÉBAULT, E. & FONTAINE, C. (2010). Stability of ecological communities and the architecture of mutualistic and trophic networks. *Science* 329, 853–856.
- TRØJELSGAARD, K., BÁEZ, M., ESPADALER, X., NOGALES, M., OROMÍ, P., ROCHE, F. L. & OLESEN, J. M. (2013). Island biogeography of mutualistic interaction networks. *Journal of Biogeography* 40, 2020–2031.
- TRØJELSGAARD, K., JORDANO, P., CARSTENSEN, D. W., OLESEN, J. M., HILLEBRAND, H., ORME, C., RICKLEFS, R. E., WHITTAKER, R. J., FERNÁNDEZ-PALACIOS, J. M., ANDERSON, M. J., TSCHARNTKE, T., WHITTAKER, R. H., NEKOLA, J. C., WHITE, P. S., POISOT, T., et al. (2015). Geographical variation in mutualistic networks: similarity, turnover and partner fidelity. *Proceedings* of the Royal Society of London Series B: Biological Sciences 282, 192–211.
- TUCK, C. & ROMANUK, T. N. (2012). Robustness to thermal variability differs along a latitudinal gradient in zooplankton communities. *Global Change Biology* 18, 1597–1608.
- TYLIANAKIS, J. M., DIDHAM, R. K., BASCOMPTE, J. & WARDLE, D. A. (2008). Global change and species interactions in terrestrial ecosystems. *Ecology Letters* 11, 1351–1363.
- TYLIANAKIS, J. M. & MORRIS, R. J. (2017). Ecological networks across environmental gradients. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 48. https://doi.org/ annurev-ecolsys-110316-022821.
- TYLIANAKIS, J. M., TSCHARNTKE, T. & LEWIS, O. T. (2007). Habitat modification alters the structure of tropical host–parasitoid food webs. *Nature* 445, 202–205.
- VACHER, C., TAMADDONI-NEZHAD, A., KAMENOVA, S., PEYRARD, N., MOALIC, Y., SABBADIN, R., SCHWALLER, L., CHIQUET, J., SMITH, M. A., VALLANCE, J., FIEVET, V. & JAKUSCHKIN, B. (2016). Learning ecological networks from next-generation sequencing data. Advances in Ecological Research 54, 1–39.
- VANDER ZANDEN, M. J., SHUTER, B. J., RASMUSSEN, J. B. & LESTER, N. (1999). Patterns of food chain length in lakes: a stable isotope study. *American Naturalist* 154, 406–416.
- VÁZQUEZ, D. P. & AIZEN, M. A. (2004). Asymetric specialization: a pervasive feature of plant–pollinator interactions. *Ecology* 85, 1251–1257.
- VINAGRE, C. & COSTA, M. (2014). Estuarine-coastal gradient in food web network structure and properties. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 503, 11–21.
- WARREN, P. H. (1989). Spatial and temporal variation in the structure of a freshwater food web. Oikas 55, 299–311.
- WARTON, D. I., BLANCHET, F. G., O'HARA, R. B., OVASKAINEN, O., TASKINEN, S., WALKER, S. C. & HUI, F. K. C. (2015). So many variables: joint modeling in community ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **30**, 766–779.
- WEIHER, E., CLARKE, G. D. P. & KEDDY, P. A. (1998). Community assembly rules, morphological dispersion, and the coexistence of plant species. *Oikos* **81**, 309.
- WEINSTEIN, B. G. (2015). MotionMeerkat: integrating motion video detection and ecological monitoring. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 6, 357–362.
- WEINSTEIN, B. G. & GRAHAM, C. H. (2017). Persistent bill and corolla matching despite shifting temporal resources in tropical hummingbird-plant interactions. *Ecology Letters* 20, 326–335.
- WEINSTEIN, B. G., TINOCO, B., PARRA, J. L., BROWN, L. M., MCGUIRE, J. A., STILES, F. G. & GRAHAM, C. H. (2014). Taxonomic, phylogenetic, and trait beta diversity in South American hummingbirds. *The American Naturalist* 184, 211–224.
- WELTI, E. A. R. & JOERN, A. (2015). Structure of trophic and mutualistic networks across broad environmental gradients. *Ecology and Evolution* 5, 326–334.

- WHITTAKER, R. H. (1972). Evolution and measurement of species diversity. Taxon 21, 213–251.
- WHITTAKER, R. J., WILLIS, K. J. & FIELD, R. (2001). Scale and species richness: towards a general, hierarchical theory of species diversity. *Journal of Biogeography* 28, 453–470.
- WILLIAMS, R. J. & MARTINEZ, N. D. (2000). Simple rules yield complex food webs. *Nature* **404**, 180–183.
- WINEMILLER, K. O. (1989). Must connectance decrease with species richness. American Naturalist 134, 960–968.
- WINEMILLER, K. O. (1990). Spatial and temporal variation in tropical fish trophic networks. *Ecological Monographs* 60, 331–367.
- WIRTA, H. K., VESTERINEN, E. J., HAMBÄCK, P. A., WEINGARTNER, E., RASMUSSEN, C., RENEERKENS, J., SCHMIDT, N. M., GILG, O. & ROSLIN, T. (2015). Exposing the structure of an Arctic food web. *Ecology and Evolution* 5, 3842–3856.
- WISZ, M. S., POTTIER, J., KISSLING, W. D., PELLISSIER, L., LENOIR, J., DAMGAARD, C. F., DORMANN, C. F., FORCHHAMMER, M. C., GRYTNES, J. A., GUISAN, A., HEIKKINEN, R. K., HOYE, T. T., KUEHN, I., LUOTO, M., MATORANO, L., et al. (2013). The role of biotic interactions in shaping distributions and realised assemblages of species: implications for species distribution modelling. *Biological Reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society* **88**, 15–30.

(Received 17 May 2017; revised 17 August 2017; accepted 18 August 2017; published online 22 September 2017)